© Adis International Limited. All rights reserved

# **Exercise Recommendations After Total Joint Replacement**

# A Review of the Current Literature and Proposal of Scientifically Based Guidelines

Markus S. Kuster

Department of Orthopaedic Surgery and Traumatology, Kantonsspital, St. Gallen, Switzerland

#### Contents

Abstract
1. Long-Term Results from Total Joint Replacements in Young and Active Patients
2. Physical Activity After Total Joint Replacement
3. Exercise Recommendations After Total Joint Replacement
4. Proposal of Scientifically Based Guidelines
4.1 Wear of Total Joint Replacements
4.2 Joint Loads and Moments During Different Activities
4.2.1 Speed Walking
4.2.2 Cycling
4.2.3 Jogging
4.2.4 Hiking
4.2.5 Summary
4.3 Inactivity and Fixation of the Prosthesis
4.4 Recreation versus Exercise
4.5 Experience and Risk of Injuries
4.6 Differences Between Total Hip Arthroplasties and Total Knee Arthroplasties
5. Conclusion

#### **Abstract**

This article presents a literature review of the current recommendations regarding sports after total joint replacement and also suggests scientifically based guidelines. Patients should be encouraged to remain physically active for general health and also for the quality of their bone. There is evidence that increased bone quality will improve prosthesis fixation and decrease the incidence of early loosening. To recommend a certain activity after total knee or hip replacement, factors such as wear, joint load, intensity and the type of prosthesis must be taken into account for each patient and sport. It has been shown that the reduction of wear is one of the main factors in improving long-term results after total joint replacement. Wear is dependent on the load, the number of steps and the material properties of total joint replacements. The most important question is, whether a specific activity is performed for exercise to obtain and maintain physical fitness or whether an activity is recreational only. To maintain physical fitness an endurance activity will be performed several times per week with high intensity. Since

load will influence the amount of wear exponentially, only activities with low joint loads such as swimming, cycling or possibly power walking should be recommended. If an activity is carried out on a low intensity and therefore recreational base, activities with higher joint loads such as skiing or hiking can also be performed. It is unwise to start technically demanding activities after total joint replacement, as the joint loads and the risk for injuries are generally higher for these activities in unskilled individuals. Finally, it is important to distinguish between suitable activities following total knee and total hip replacement. To recommend suitable physical activities after total knee replacement, it is important to consider both the load and the knee flexion angle of the peak load, while for total hip replacement, which involves a ball and socket joint, the flexion angle does not play an important role. During activities such as hiking or jogging, high joint loads occur between 40 and 60° of knee flexion where many knee designs are not conforming and high polyethylene inlay stress will occur. Regular jogging or hiking produces high inlay stress with the danger of delamination and polyethylene destruction for most current total knee prostheses. Based on these design differences between hip and knee replacements it is prudent to be more conservative after total knee arthroplasty than after total hip arthroplasty for activities that exhibit high joint loads in knee flexion.

Worldwide more than 500 000 total joints are implanted yearly. [1] Hence, besides general details associated with age such as dementia, chronic lung disease, osteoarthritis, reduced eyesight and impaired proprioception, [2] the possibility of a patient having a total joint replacement must also be considered when an individual exercise regimen is recommended. The aim of this article is to provide a literature review concerning the current recommendations regarding sports after total joint replacement and to suggest new guidelines that are based on current scientific and biomechanical knowledge.

#### Long-Term Results from Total Joint Replacements in Young and Active Patients

Some retrospective studies in patients performing sport activities after total joint replacement have reported contradictory results. [3-10] For example, recreational exercise had no significant deteriorating effect on total hip arthroplasties (THA) for up to 5.8[3] or 9 years. [10] Kilgus et al., [5] on the contrary, found that active patients were at a significantly increased risk for revision surgery as a re-

sult of aseptic loosening. The harmful effects of sports participation were not noticed until 10 years postoperatively. Several other studies have confirmed that total hip replacements have a higher incidence of early loosening and failure in younger and consequently more active patients. [11-15] In the Swedish National Hip Arthroplasty Register, men younger than 55 years of age showed a revision rate of almost 20%, while the rate was only about 5% for older patients after 10 years. [16] This increased revision rate in younger patients may be attributed to an increased activity of this population group.

Results are also contradictory with regard to total knee replacement. In patients younger than 55 years of age, a survival rate for their knee prostheses of 96% at 10 years was reported. [17,18] It was concluded that total knee arthroplasties (TKA) appear to maintain their excellent results over time without the deterioration seen in THA in younger patients. Diduch et al. [19] followed 108 TKA in 84 patients with osteoarthritis who were younger than 55 years. Some of the patients even showed regular participation in activities such as tennis, skiing, bicycling or strenuous farm construction. The mean follow-up time was 8 years, and ranged from 3 to

18 years. Ninety-four percent had a good or excellent function.

Mintz et al.,<sup>[20]</sup> on the other hand, performed an arthroscopic evaluation of the tibial plateau in 33 patients an average of 4.5 years after total knee replacement. Patients whose prostheses were unsuccessful during the follow-up period were younger, larger and more active than patients whose implants were successful. The Swedish Knee Arthroplasty Register showed a 10-year revision rate of only 6% in patients older than 74 years while it was increased by a factor of three (18%) in patients younger than 65 years.<sup>[21]</sup>

#### 2. Physical Activity After Total Joint Replacement

Patients who have symptomatic osteoarthritis of the knee joint typically have less strength, endurance for exercise and aerobic capacity than patients who do not have osteoarthritis.[22] Many of these effects can be attributed to a decline in functional activities because of osteoarthritic pain. Joint replacement operations have been shown to relieve pain, improve function, increase mobility and psychological well being. Furthermore, total joint replacements are a predictable and successful treatment for the painful osteoarthrosis with a high patient satisfaction<sup>[23]</sup> and good long-term results.<sup>[17-19,21]</sup> A modern total joint replacement has a >90% chance of surviving 10 to 15 years. [19,21,24] The improvement of pain and function after total joint replacements also allows patients to increase their physical activity and some patients even participate in sporting activities. [3,10,19,22] A marked increase in participation in four common types of recreational exercise, such as, walking, cycling, cross-country skiing and swimming, after total hip replacement was shown.<sup>[10]</sup> Preoperatively, only 2% of patients performed regular walking, and this increased to 55% postoperatively. Cycling increased from 7% preoperatively to 29% postoperatively, swimming from 13% preoperatively to 30% postoperatively, and cross-country skiing increased from 0% preoperatively to 9% postoperatively.

An increase in the Tegner activity score from an average of 1.3 points preoperatively to 3.5 points postoperatively was also found in TKA.<sup>[19]</sup>

Ries et al.<sup>[22,25]</sup> evaluated cardiovascular fitness before and after hip and knee arthroplasty and found a significant improvement in exercise duration, maximum workload, and peak oxygen consumption after two years. These findings demonstrate that patients are limited by the osteoarthritis and an improvement of joint function after total joint replacements allows them to increase their activities and improve physical fitness.

However, only patients who had a high activity level preoperatively returned to sports after total joint replacement while inactive patients seemed to remain less active despite the improved joint function.[26] Bradbury et al.[26] evaluated 160 patients who had undergone total knee replacement with regard to return to sports activity. Eighty-one patients did not regularly participate in any sports before surgery and none of these patients took up sports after surgery. Seventy-nine patients participated in sports before surgery and 51 of these patients returned to regular exercise postoperatively. These patients were more likely to return to lowimpact activities such as bowls than high-impact activities such as tennis. Seventy-seven percent of patients who participated in regular exercise in the year before surgery returned to sports while only 35% of patients who had been inactive in the year before surgery returned to sports. The preoperative activity level was also the most important factor regarding sport activities postoperatively in THA.<sup>[3]</sup> The most common sports before and after total hip replacement in this study were hiking (41%) and swimming (35%). Seventeen percent of patients even resumed jogging and 10% cycled on a regular basis, postoperatively. Most patients performed these activities preoperatively. It seems that active patients with osteoarthritis would like to resume an active lifestyle after total joint replacement and enjoy participation in sport activities, and these patients need careful advice on the most suitable activity. On the other hand, patients who are inactive

preoperatively tend to remain inactive after total joint replacement, and such patients should be encouraged to start some exercise to improve overall fitness. However, the question remains: which activities?

# 3. Exercise Recommendations After Total Joint Replacement

Many studies provide recommendations about sport participation after total joint replacement.[1,3,4,6,7,27-34] Dorr[32] recommended activities such as swimming, hiking, bicycling, walking and golfing for patients after total joint replacement or osteoarthritis. Dubs et al.[3] even included sport activities such as jogging, hiking, mountaineering and tennis in their recommendations, based on a retrospective study. Only activities such as riding, contact sports and acrobatics, were discouraged by these authors. McGrory et al.[33] sent a questionnaire that identified 28 common sports to 15 consultant surgeons, to two fellows in adult orthopaedic reconstruction and to thirteen fifth-year orthopaedic residents. The response options for each activity was 'yes', 'no' or 'depends'. Sports in which 75% of surgeons would not allow participation were labelled 'not recommended' whereas sports in which 75% of surgeons would allow participation were labelled 'recommended'. Sport activities which <75% of the surgeons did recommend, were labelled 'intermediate'. The recommendations for THA and TKA were similar in this study. Running, waterskiing, football, baseball, basketball, hockey, handball, karate, soccer and racquetball were not recommended after THA or TKA. Cycling, sailing, bowling, scuba diving and golfing were recommended after THA and TKA whereas speed walking, hiking, ice skating, backpacking, doubles tennis, ballet, aerobics, alpine skiing, softball, volleyball and single tennis were labelled intermediate.

Another study<sup>[34]</sup> categorised sports in low-, moderate- or high-demand activities. No reasoning was mentioned as to why a certain activity was labelled as moderate- or high-demand. For example, jogging was assumed a moderate, and hiking a

high-demand activity. Cycling was labelled moderately demanding while walking was low demand. In the study of McGrory et al., [33] on the other hand, cycling was recommended, jogging was not recommended, and hiking and speed walking were intermediate. In a review article [1] concerning athletic activities after total joint replacements, 54 members of the Hip Society and the Knee Society were surveyed regarding their recommendations for athletics and sports participation for their patients. The 54 responses were analysed statistically and a consensus recommendation for each activity was obtained and published [1] (tables I and II).

Since prospective randomised studies on athletic activities after joint replacement are not available in the current literature, recommendations are based upon the opinion of orthopaedic surgeons. Biomechanical analyses of knee and hip joint loads during these sport activities were rarely considered. Obviously, most surgeons conservatively recommend low-impact activities such as swimming, cycling and walking, and discourage high-impact activities such as football, handball, basketball, soccer or hockey. No consensus in the current literature exists for many activities such as power walking, cycling, hiking or jogging. Also, most of the present articles do not distinguish between total knee and total hip replacement regarding their recommendations.[32-34]

## 4. Proposal of Scientifically Based Guidelines

Most individuals might have a good feeling about the effects of different sport activities on a knee or hip joint as they know from their own experiences, such as muscle soreness or overuse injuries, how strenuous a certain sport activity is. However, physicians and coaches should be able to instruct their patients about the risks and recommend sport activities after total hip or total knee replacement according to scientific knowledge rather than 'gut feelings'. In the following section, established factors that influence wear and long-term results from total joint replacements will be

**Table I.** Consensus recommendations for activity after total hip arthroplasty (1999 Hip Society Survey)<sup>[1]</sup>

#### Recommended/allowed

Stationary bicycling

Croquet

Ballroom dancing

Golf

Horseshoes

Shooting

Shuffleboard

Swimming

Doubles tennis

Walking

#### Allowed with experience

Low-impact aerobics

Road bicycling

Bowling

Canoeing

Hiking

Horseback riding

Cross-country skiing

#### Not recommended

High-impact aerobics

Baseball/softball

Basketball

Football

Gymnastics

Handball

Hockey

Jogging Lacrosse

Racquetball

Squash

Rock climbing

Soccer

Singles tennis

Volleyball

#### No conclusion

Jazz dancing

Square dancing

Fencing

Ice skating

Roller/inline skating

Rowing

Speed walking

Downhill skiing

Stationary skiing

Weight-lifting

Weight machines

outlined. Taking these data into consideration will provide more scientifically based guidelines.

Issues that must be taken into account for each patient and sporting activity include:

- wear of total joint replacements
- joint load and moments during sport activities
- activity and fixation of prosthesis
- recreation or exercise
- experience
- difference between THA and TKA.

#### 4.1 Wear of Total Joint Replacements

Bone destruction as a tissue response to particles is now a well recognised problem in total joint replacements.<sup>[35]</sup> Up to 500 000 submicron-sized polyethylene particles are released with each step. [36] These small polyethylene particles can activate macrophages, which produce factors such as stromelysin, prostaglandin E2, interleukin-1, and tumour necrosis factor. These factors are thought to explain the progressive osteolysis and aseptic loosening seen in total joint implants.<sup>[37]</sup> It is evident that the major long-term problem in total joint replacement is polyethylene wear.[38] Factors that can reduce wear and improve long-term results can be separated into surgically-controlled factors, patientbased factors, material properties of the components, and design-related factors. Even though a technically perfect reconstruction of an arthritic joint plays an important role for the functional and long-term result it is not the purpose of the present review to give recommendations about the surgical technique, nor about different designs or the development of new materials. We shall concentrate on patient-based factors, which can be influenced by the surgeon's and physician's dietary and activity suggestions.

The total volume of wear particles produced strongly depends on the sliding distance or the amount of steps (linear relationship), on the applied load (exponential relationship) and the surface roughness (exponential relationship).<sup>[39]</sup> An enormous variability of activity levels amongst patients of all age groups exists. <sup>[40,41]</sup> The amount of

steps of 243 patients ranging in age from 17 to 83 years was investigated using a pedometer.<sup>[40]</sup> The number of steps/day ranged from 1600 to 35 500

**Table II.** Consensus recommendations for activity after total knee arthroplasty (1999 Knee Society Survey)<sup>[1]</sup>

#### Recommended/allowed

Low-impact aerobics

Stationary bicycling

Bowling

Golf

Dancing

Horseback riding

Croquet

Walking

Swimming

Shooting

Shuffleboard

Horseshoes

#### Allowed with experience

Road bicycling

Canoeing

Hiking Rowing

Cross-country skiing

Stationary skiing

Speed walking

**Tennis** 

Weight machines

Ice skating

#### Not recommended

Racquetball

Squash

Rock climbing

Coccer

Singles tennis

Volleyball

Football

Gymnastics

Lacrosse

Hockey

Basketball

Jogging

Handball

#### No conclusion

Fencing

Roller blade/inline skating

Downhill skiing

Weight-lifting

for male patients and from 1200 to 32 600 for female patients. If this range of steps was extrapolated to steps/year the activity level may range from about 500 000 steps to almost 13 million steps/year. Age only correlated weakly with the number of steps (r = -0.42) or the distance walked (r = -0.44) which meant that only 16% of the variability was explained by the factor age. A similar study was performed after total knee or total hip replacement.<sup>[41]</sup> Patients after THA (947 905 steps/year) were significantly more active than patients after TKA (641 305 steps/year). Similar to Seedhom and Wallbridge's[40] study there was a great variability in walking activity and only a weak correlation existed between age and activity level. The activity level seems the most variable patient-related factor and the enormous activity differences amongst patients may well explain why some prostheses last for many years and others loosen earlier. The low correlation between walking activity and age may also explain why some studies[17-19] found similar results for TKA in younger and older patients. It seems that the activity level may be a much better parameter than age for the assessment of total joint arthroplasties. Indeed, one study<sup>[42]</sup> showed that wear is a function of use. They found a volumetric wear of about 34mm<sup>3</sup> per million cycles. The average patient bodyweight was 79kg and an adjustment was made for a 70kg patient, which yielded an average volumetric wear of 30mm<sup>3</sup> per million cycles for a 70kg patient. Since the most common activity in this study was walking, the good correlation between the amount of steps and the wear volume is well explained.

Besides the number of steps per day or year (sliding distance), the joint load (which is given by the type of activity), must also be taken into account for the activity level of a patient. If patients resume activities with high joint loads, the amount of wear could increase exponentially. Another study<sup>[4]</sup> followed two cohorts of 50 matched patients after total hip replacement over 5 to 10 years. One group consisted of an active group in which all members participated in downhill or cross-

country skiing and also regularly in trekking, while the other group was more sedentary, participating only occasionally in swimming or trekking, and not participating in skiing. The active group showed a linear wear of 2.42mm after an average follow-up of 6 years, whereas the linear wear was only 1.16mm after 7 years in the less active group. The active patients who participated in trekking and skiing showed an annual linear wear rate of 0.4 mm, which was a factor of 2.5 higher than the wear rate of the inactive patients, which was 0.16mm.<sup>[4]</sup> Schmalzried et al.[42] found an average linear wear rate of 0.14 mm/year, which was similar to the inactive group in the study of Gschwend et al.[4] It can be concluded that wear, at least in total hip replacements, strongly depends on the number of steps and also on the joint load, which is given by the the patient's bodyweight and the type of activity. No studies exist yet for total knee replacements, but there is evidence that these laws also apply for total knee replacements.[28,43,44] It was shown, for example, that patients who showed increased flexion moments also demonstrated an increased risk of tibial component loosening.[44]

## 4.2 Joint Loads and Moments During Different Activities

Since wear and joint load have an exponential correlation, [39] a good knowledge about joint loads that occur during different activities is important to recommend a specific exercise. Tables III and IV summarise published data about hip and knee joint loads during some daily and athletic activities. A number of these data were obtained by *in vivo* measurements of a telemeterised total hip replacement, [45-47] while others were estimates from joint models. [47-62]

A few additional considerations about some exercises are noteworthy.

#### 4.2.1 Speed Walking

An important issue is whether fast walking is an intense enough activity to elicit a cardiovascular-training effect and how fast a patient must walk to gain some training effects. In a study<sup>[63]</sup> of >300

Table III. Hip joint loads during different activities

Activity	Hip joint	References
0: "	load (× bw)	15.10
Standing on two legs	0.8	45,46
Standing on one leg	3.2	
Straight leg raise	1.9	
Walking at 1 km/h	2.9	
Walking at 5 km/h	4.7	
Jogging at 5 km/h	5.0	
Jogging at 7 km/h	5.4	
Stumbling	8.7	
Cycling low resistance (40W)	0.5	
Cycling high resistance	1.4	
Jogging at 12 km/h	6	48
Alpine skiing long turns, flat slope	4.5	
Alpine skiing long turns, steep slope	6	
Alpine skiing short turns, flat slope	5.5-6	
Alpine skiing short turns, steep slope	7-8	
Alpine skiing small moguls	8-9	
Alpine skiing large moguls	10-15	
Cross-country skiing classical	4-5	
Cross-country skiing skating	4.5	
Walking at natural speed	3.2-6.2	49
Stair ascent	3.4-6	
Car entry	5-8	
Car exit	4.5-8	
Bath entry	4.6-6.6	
Stair ascent	5	47
Stair descent	5.6	
Ramp ascent	6.8	
Ramp descent	6.5	
<b>bw</b> = bodyweight.		

healthy adults, 67% of men and 91% of women achieved a training heart rate (e.g. >70% of maximal heart rate) when asked to walk a mile briskly. In men over the age of 50 years, 83% achieved a training heart rate. [63] Even well trained young men were able to elevate the heart rate into the target training range. Duncan et al. [64] randomised 102 sedentary women ranging from 20 to 40 years of age to four treatment groups. Fifty-nine completed the study (16 aerobic walkers with 8 km/h; 12 power walkers with 6.4 km/h, 18 strollers with 4.8 km/h and 13 sedentary controls). The participants all walked 4.8 km/day, 5 days/week at the assigned speed for 24 weeks. When the maximal oxygen

Table IV. Knee joint forces during different activities

Activity	Knee joint	Reference
	load (x bw)	
Walking at 5.4 km/h	3.4-4	43
Walking	3.0	50
Walking at 5 km/h	2.8	51
Walking at 7 km/h	4.3	
Walking	3.5	52
Cycling at 120W	1.2	53
Stair ascent	4.3	54
Stair ascent	5.0	55
Stair descent	3.8	54
Stair descent	6	56
Ramp ascent	4.5	54
Ramp descent	4.5	
Ramp descent at 5.4 km/h	7-8.5	43
Squat descent	5.6	57
Isokinetic knee extension	up to 9	58
Jogging at 9 km/h	8-9	59
Jogging at 12.6 km/h	10.3	60
Running at 16 km/h	up to 14	
Bowling on asphalt alleys	up to 12	61
Skiing medium steep slope		62
beginner	10	
skilled skier	3.5	
<b>bw</b> = bodyweight.		

consumption was reassessed after 24 weeks, the sedentary control group showed a decrease of 6%, the strollers improved by 4%, the power walkers by 9% and the aerobic walkers by 16%. Hence, there was a significant and dose-dependent training effect. The investigators concluded that moderate to fast walking (e.g. 6 to 8 km/h) provided a safe and effective activity for young- to middle-aged women to achieve significant gains in cardiorespiratory fitness levels. Hence, to evaluate the knee and hip joint loads during power walking, speeds of 6 to 8 km/h must be considered. It is known that the joint moments and joint loads increase with increasing speed. Paul<sup>[51]</sup> estimated knee joint loads at slow, normal and fast walking speeds. Normal and fast walking speeds corresponded to average speeds of 5.3 and 7.2 km/h, respectively. The knee joint loads were  $2.8 \times$  bodyweight (bw) and  $4.3 \times$ bw, respectively. Hence, during power walking tibiofemoral compressive loads of 4 to 4.5 × bw must be assumed. Hip joint loads are within this range during power-walking. [46]

#### 4.2.2 Cycling

Ericson and colleagues<sup>[53,65,66]</sup> performed several studies on the biomechanics of ergometer cycling and found that the mean tibio-femoral compressive force was 1.2 × bw when the participant was cycling 60 rpm, and with a workload of 120W. The tibio-femoral joint force increased with increasing workloads and was not influenced by changes of pedalling rates. However, the tibio-femoral compressive force could be decreased with increased saddle height. The hip joint load during cycling also remained below 1.5 × bw.<sup>[45]</sup>

#### 4.2.3 Jogging

Bergman et al. [46] investigated the *in vivo* forces of a telemeterised total hip replacement in an 82-year-old patient. Despite being very active he was only able to jog at a speed of 6 to 8 km/h, which can also be achieved by fast walking. The hip joint load at this speed was still  $>5 \times$  bw.

As with walking, the hip and knee joint moment and load during jogging is dependent on the speed. Winter [159] investigated the kinematics and kinetics of the hip, knee and ankle joint during slow jogging (9.7 km/h). He found a knee joint moment of 2.7 Nm/kg bw. When patients were running with a speed of 16 km/h the knee joint moment increased to 4 Nm/kg. [67] Hence, the moment doubles if the speed is doubled. The estimated load during slow jogging in the knee joint was about 7.5 to 8 × bw for male patients and 8.5 to 9 × bw for female patients. During fast running the knee joint moment is much higher and loads of  $10 \times$  bw and more are realistic. [60]

#### 4.2.4 Hiking

In a Swiss study,<sup>[3]</sup> 41% of active patients after total hip replacement resumed hiking. Subjectively, it is known that downhill walking places large loads on the knee joint as evidenced by many hikers experiencing quadriceps muscle soreness after downhill walking. Indeed, fast downhill walking has been shown to produce knee joint loads up to

8 × bw.<sup>[43]</sup> Using ski poles for downhill walking has been shown to reduce the knee joint loads by as much as 20%.<sup>[68]</sup>

#### 4.2.5 Summary

To the best of the author's knowledge no hip or knee joint load could be found for activities such as rowing, swimming or Aqua-Fit. To further improve scientifically based guidelines for exercise recommendations after total hip or knee joints studies involving joint loads during more activities would be helpful.

As a general guide, the following hip and knee joint loads can be assumed. During daily activities, loads of 3 to 4 × bw occur, while during sport activities loads of 5 to 10 × bw might occur. Loads of up to 25 × bw have been reported during extreme activities such as weight-lifting. Furthermore, the moments and joint loads of the hip and knee during most endurance activities such as walking, hiking and jogging, strongly depend on the speed. The faster we walk or run the larger the joint loads. For activities such as skiing, joint loads can vary significantly depending on the style. Short turns increase joint loads compared with longer turns. Furthermore, moguls will increase the loads.

#### 4.3 Inactivity and Fixation of the Prosthesis

There is strong evidence that a total joint replacement in an inactive patient will show less wear than that of an active patient. However, it does not seem prudent to condemn a patient to inactivity after a total joint replacement. Functional changes that are associated with inactivity include reduced aerobic fitness, loss of co-ordination and postural reflexes, loss of muscle mass and calcium extraction or osteoporosis, while physical fitness and exercise reduce all cause mortality, anxiety and depression, improve muscle co-ordination, muscle strength and bone density.<sup>[2]</sup> Physical activity can even have beneficial effects for total joint replacement. Firstly, improved muscle strength and co-ordination will prevent patients from falls and injuries. Secondly, exercise will increase bone density and improve prosthesis fixation. Wear is one factor while fixation of the prosthesis is another. Indeed, in the study of Dubs et al., [3] the revision rate was smaller amongst active patients (1.6%) than amongst inactive patients (14.3%). The authors concluded that participation in sport after total hip replacement would produce a regeneration of bone and improve the osseous bed for the prosthesis. This finding could also be confirmed by another study<sup>[9]</sup> that found a lower rate of loosening of THA in active patients. In both studies the mean follow-up time was below 10 years. Gschwend et al.[4] followed a cohort of 50 active patients and a matched control of less active patients for 5 and 10 years. At the 5-year follow-up, 5 out of 60 prostheses had signs of loosening in the inactive group while none of the active group had signs of loosening. After 10 years, 30 patients remained in the active group and 27 in the inactive group. At this 10-year follow-up, two patients of the active group had signs of loosening while no new incidences of loosening were found in the inactive group. Furthermore, in the study of Kilgus et al.,[5] the effects of increased loosening in active patients due to wear particles occurred after 10 years. Hence, there is evidence that a balance exists between too little activity, leading to decreased bone density and early loosening (before 10 years), and too much activity, leading to increased wear and late loosening (after 10 years). Consequently, patients after total joint replacements should exercise regularly and not be condemned to inactivity as physical fitness and muscle strength have beneficial effects for general health, muscle co-ordination, bone density and also for prosthesis fixation.

#### 4.4 Recreation versus Exercise

A most important issue to consider is whether a specific activity is performed with high intensity for exercise (to obtain and maintain physical fitness), or whether an activity is for recreation. To emphasise this point, let us assume that patient A cycles, patient B speed walks and patient C jogs, after a total hip replacement to develop and maintain cardiorespiratory fitness. All three patients follow the guidelines of the American College of Sports

Medicine and exercise three times a week for 40 minutes. Patient A cycles with 80 rounds/min, patient B walks with 150 steps/min or 75 cycles/min and patient C jogs at a speed of 10 km/h with 180 steps/min or 90 cycles/min. This adds up to 499 200 cycles/year for patient A, 468 000 cycles/year for patient B and 561 000 cycles/year for patient C. Hence, each patient will perform about half a million additional cycles during exercise. A wear volume of 30mm<sup>3</sup> per 1 million walking cycles was found for a 70kg person.<sup>[42]</sup> Since wear shows a strong correlation to load, this must now be considered. Cycling produces the lowest load for the knee and hip joint, being about  $1.2 \times bw$ . Normal walking is about  $3.5 \times$  bw and power walking about 4 to  $5 \times$  bw. Jogging produces the highest loads of up to 7 or  $8 \times$  bw for the hip and knee joint. Even though the correlation between load and wear is exponential,<sup>[39]</sup> a simple linear relationship is assumed. Power walking has a 42.5% and jogging a 130% load increase compared with normal walking, while cycling has a load reduction of 300%. Hence, the activity-induced annual wear rate will be about 5mm<sup>3</sup> for patient A, about 21mm<sup>3</sup> for patient B and 35mm<sup>3</sup> for patient C.

As can be seen, an appropriate activity can influence the wear rate by a factor of up to 7 and hopefully also significantly influence the longevity of a total joint replacement. Patients are advised to perform activities like cycling, swimming, Aqua-Fit and possibly power walking as an exercise regimen for cardiorespiratory fitness. Activities such as jogging, hiking, tennis or other sports with high joint loads should not be performed as a regular endurance activity. It is a different matter however, if patients would like to resume these activities for recreation. Skiing for 1 or 2 weeks a year, playing tennis for pleasure (avoiding competition, fast sprints or jumps) or hiking on weekends will not add a great amount of steps and may well be accepted. There are ways to reduce joint loads during several activities. During mountain hiking, patients should be advised to avoid steep descents, short-cuts and walk slowly downhill.<sup>[28]</sup> They should use ski poles, as this can reduce the load on the joints by as much as 20%. [68] During skiing steep slopes, hard snow conditions or moguls should be avoided.

The same applies for TKA. Low-impact activities such as cycling, Aqua-Fit or swimming are ideal activities to obtain cardiorespiratory fitness. <sup>[28]</sup> Hiking or sports that involve running or high joint loads should be avoided as regular exercise, as was shown in a biomechanical study on endurance sports recommendations after TKA. <sup>[28]</sup>

#### 4.5 Experience and Risk of Injuries

Another essential factor is the amount of experience a patient has gained in a certain sporting activity. This is especially important for activities such as mountain hiking, cross-country and downhill skiing, horse riding, mountain biking and tennis. It seems unwise for a patient to start these technically demanding sporting activities after a total joint replacement for several reasons.

The risk of injuries might be increased for these activities in inexperienced patients. There is preliminary evidence from Switzerland that individuals not regularly active, out of practice or inexperienced are at higher risk for sport accidents. [70] Even mountain hiking has a high rate of accidents or overuse injuries. An epidemiological study in Switzerland, for example, found that ice hockey, handball and soccer had the highest incidence of injuries in males, and this was followed by hiking. [71]

Furthermore, joint loads might be significantly increased for beginners compared with experienced individuals. For example, knee joint loads during skiing were estimated for skilled and untrained skiers. [62] It was found that the knee joint forces in the steering phase were not very high for highly skilled skiers (2775N). However, unskilled skiers tended to lean backwards and their knee joint forces increased heavily to 7463N. They further concluded that in icy snow conditions and in moguls the knee forces in low-level skiers might reach very high values.

4.6 Differences Between Total Hip Arthroplasties and Total Knee Arthroplasties

Mallon and Callaghan<sup>[6,7]</sup> investigated the effects of golf on THA and TKA. Participants, who had a single primary THA (n = 115) or TKA (n = 115) 83) and no other joint arthroplasty, a minimum follow-up period of 3 years and who were playing golf a minimum of three times per week on average were recruited from 48 regional sections of the professional golfer's association of America. This cohort of patients was sent a questionnaire and recent postoperative radiographs were solicited from the patients' surgeons. Based on their study they concluded that many golfers improved their handicap after THA while it decreased after TKA. In addition, most golfers with a THA did not have pain while playing. After TKA the results were not as encouraging as after THA. Radiographic lucent lines occurred in 79% of cemented TKA, in 45% of uncemented TKA and in 54% of all TKA studied. Both the occurrence of radiographic lucent lines and the incidence of pain during and after play were higher for patients with TKA than with THA.

Hence, it is important to distinguish between suitable activities following total hip or total knee replacement. Total hip replacements are designed as a ball and socket joint. In TKA designs, on the other hand, the radius of the femoral component usually does not match the radius of the tibial component throughout the flexion range. In many total knee designs the femoral and tibial radiuses are conforming near extension and nonconforming in flexion. This specific contact geometry results in high contact stress above the yield point in flexion which can result in delamination and destruction of the inlay.<sup>[72]</sup> To recommend suitable physical activities after total knee replacement, it is important to consider both the load and the knee flexion angle of the peak load while for total hip replacement, which is a ball and socket joint, the flexion angle does not play an important role. Many total knee designs will show much smaller stress levels near extension than in flexion for the same load.<sup>[72]</sup>

During activities such as hiking or jogging high joint loads occur between 40 and 60° of knee flexion where many knee designs are not conforming.[43] This will lead to very high polyethylene inlay stress. Hence, regular jogging or hiking with intense downhill walking produces a large overloaded area with the danger of delamination and polyethylene destruction for most current total knee prostheses. The author is aware of a patient who participated in a marathon run after total knee replacement despite being discouraged by the surgeon. The polyethylene inlay broke at the 35km mark due to severe delamination and destruction.<sup>[28]</sup> On the other hand, many patients resume jogging after total hip replacement without this deleterious effect. Based on these design differences between hip and knee replacements it is prudent to be more conservative after TKA than after THA for activities that exhibit high joint loads in knee flexion (jogging, mountain hiking).

#### 5. Conclusion

Patients should be motivated to remain physically active after total joint replacement for general health, prevention of cardiac problems and also for improvement of bone quality and prosthesis fixation. However, the activity recommendations should be assessed for each patient. Active patients who would like to maintain or even improve cardiorespiratory fitness will have to exercise three to four times weekly for 30 to 40 minutes. These aerobic activities should be of low-impact, such as swimming, cycling, Aqua-Fit or power walking.

For patients who would like to continue sport on an occasional and therefore recreational basis, activities with higher joint loads, such as skiing, tennis and hiking can be recommended. Patients should also be alerted to joint-load-reducing measures such as the use of ski-poles during hiking, the use of cable cars for the descent, skiing on flatter slopes and avoiding icy conditions, the use of diagonal instead of skating techniques during crosscountry skiing, cycling with low loads and higher frequencies and increasing saddle height. It is also

unwise to start technically demanding activities such as skiing, mountain hiking, mountain biking, horse riding and tennis after total joint replacement as the joint loads and the risk for injuries are generally higher for these activities in unskilled individuals. Based on design differences between hip and knee replacements it is also prudent to be more conservative after TKA than after THA for activities that exhibit high joint loads in knee flexion such as jogging, or mountain hiking.

#### **Acknowledgements**

The author has no conflicts of interest.

#### References

- Healy WL, Iorio R, Lemos MJ. Athletic activity after total knee arthroplasty. Clin Orthop 2000 Nov; (380): 65-71
- Barry HC, Eathorne SW. Exercise and aging: issues for the practitioner. Med Clin North Am 1994 Mar; 78 (2): 357-76
- Dubs L, Gschwend N, Munzinger U. Sport after total hip arthroplasty. Arch Orthop Trauma Surg 1983; 101 (3): 161-9
- Gschwend N, Frei T, Morscher E, et al. Alpine and cross-country skiing after total hip replacement: 2 cohorts of 50 patients each, one active, the other inactive in skiing, followed for 5-10 years. Acta Orthop Scand 2000 Jun; 71 (3): 243-9
- Kilgus DJ, Dorey FJ, Finerman GA, et al. Patient activity, sports participation, and impact loading on the durability of cemented total hip replacements. Clin Orthop 1991 Aug; (269): 25-31
- Mallon WJ, Callaghan JJ. Total hip arthroplasty in active golfers. J Arthroplasty 1992; 7: 339-46
- Mallon WJ, Callaghan JJ. Total knee arthroplasty in active golfers. J Arthroplasty 1993; 8: 299-306
- Mont MA, La Porte DM, Mullick T, et al. Tennis after total hip arthroplasty. Am J Sports Med 1999 Jan-Feb; 27 (1): 60-4
- Widhalm R, Hofer G, Krugluger J, et al. Is there greater danger of sports injury or osteoporosis caused by inactivity in patients with hip prosthesis? Sequelae for long-term stability of prosthesis anchorage [in German]. Z Orthop Ihre Grenzgeb 1990 Mar-Apr; 128 (2): 139-43
- Visuri T, Honkanen R. Total hip replacement: its influence on spontaneous recreation exercise habits. Arch Phys Med Rehabil 1980 Jul; 61 (7): 325-8
- Chandler HP, Reineck FT, Wixson RL, et al. Total hip replacement in patients younger than thirty years old: a five-year follow-up study. J Bone Joint Surg Am 1981 Dec; 63 (9): 1426-34
- Collis DK. Cemented total hip replacement in patients who are less than fifty years old. J Bone Joint Surg Am 1984 Mar; 66 (3): 353-9
- Dorr LD, Takei GK, Conaty JP. Total hip arthroplasties in patients less than forty-five years old. J Bone Joint Surg Am 1983 Apr; 65 (4): 474-9
- Huddleston HD. Femoral lysis after cemented hip arthroplasty. J Arthroplasty 1988; 3 (4): 285-97

 Maloney WJ, Jasty M, Harris WH, et al. Endosteal erosion in association with stable uncemented femoral components. J Bone Joint Surg Am 1990 Aug; 72 (7): 1025-34

- Malchau H, Herberts P, Ahnfelt L. Prognosis of total hip replacement in Sweden: follow-up of 92,675 operations performed 1978-1990. Acta Orthop Scand 1993 Oct; 64 (5): 497-506
- Ranawat CS, Padgett DE, Ohashi Y. Total knee arthroplasty for patients younger than 55 years. Clin Orthop 1989 Nov; (248): 27-33
- Stern SH, Bowen MK, Insall JN, et al. Cemented total knee arthroplasty for gonarthrosis in patients 55 years old or younger. Clin Orthop 1990 Nov; (260): 124-9
- Diduch DR, Insall JN, Scott WN, et al. Total knee replacement in young, active patients: long-term follow-up and functional outcome. J Bone Joint Surg Am 1997 Apr; 79 (4): 575-82
- Mintz L, Tsao AK, McCrae CR, et al. The arthroscopic evaluation and characteristics of severe polyethylene wear in total knee arthroplasty. Clin Orthop 1991 Dec; (273): 215-22
- Knutson K, Lewold S, Robertsson O, et al. The Swedish knee arthroplasty register: a nation-wide study of 30,003 knees 1976-1992. Acta Orthop Scand 1994 Aug; 65 (4): 375-86
- Ries MD, Philbin EF, Groff GD, et al. Improvement in cardiovascular fitness after total knee arthroplasty. J Bone Joint Surg Am 1996 Nov; 78 (11): 1696-701
- Robertsson O, Dunbar M, Pehrsson T, et al. Patient satisfaction after knee arthroplasty: a report on 27,372 knees operated on between 1981 and 1995 in Sweden. Acta Orthop Scand 2000 Jun; 71 (3): 262-7
- Rougraff BT, Heck DA, Gibson AE. A comparison of tricompartmental and unicompartmental arthroplasty for the treatment of gonarthrosis. Clin Orthop 1991 Dec; (273): 157-64
- Ries MD, Philbin EF, Groff GD, et al. Effect of total hip arthroplasty on cardiovascular fitness. J Arthroplasty 1997 Jan; 12 (1): 84-90
- Bradbury N, Borton D, Spoo G, et al. Participation in sports after total knee replacement. Am J Sports Med 1998 Jul-Aug; 26 (4): 530-5
- Kuster MS, Grob K, Gachter A. Knee endoprosthesis: sports orthopedics possibilities and limitations [in German]. Orthopade 2000 Aug; 29 (8): 739-45
- Kuster MS, Spalinger E, Blanksby BA, et al. Endurance sports after total knee replacement: a biomechanical investigation. Med Sci Sports Exerc 2000 Apr; 32 (4): 721-4
- Riepenhausen U. Sports following endoprosthetic joint replacement [in German]. Z Orthop Ihre Grenzgeb 1997 Mar-Apr; 135 (2): Oa16-7
- Rutten M. Rowing with an endoprosthesis of the hip (author's translation) [in German]. Z Orthop Ihre Grenzgeb 1979 Oct; 117 (5): 830-2
- Steinbruck K, Gartner BM. Total hip prosthesis and sport (author's translation) [in German.]. MMW Munch Med Wochenschr 1979 Sep 28; 121 (39): 1247-50
- Dorr LD. Arthritis and athletics. Clin Sports Med 1991 Apr; 10
  32: 343-57
- McGrory BJ, Stuart MJ, Sim FH. Participation in sports after hip and knee arthroplasty: review of literature and survey of surgeon preferences. Mayo Clin Proc 1995 Apr; 70 (4): 342-8
- Cirincione RJ. Sports after total joint replacement. Md Med J 1996 Aug; 45 (8): 644-7

- Willert HG. Reactions of the articular capsule to wear products of artificial joint prostheses. J Biomed Mater Res 1977 Mar; 11 (2): 157-64
- Schmalzried TP, Callaghan JJ. Wear in total hip and knee replacements. J Bone Joint Surg Am 1999 Jan; 81 (1): 115-36
- Horikoshi M, Macaulay W, Booth RE, et al. Comparison of interface membranes obtained from failed cemented and cementless hip and knee prostheses. Clin Orthop 1994 Dec; (309): 69-87
- Ritter MA, Herbst SA, Keating EM, et al. Long-term survival analysis of a posterior cruciate-retaining total condylar total knee arthroplasty. Clin Orthop 1994 Dec; (309): 136-45
- Kuster MS, Stachowiak GW. Factors affecting polyethylene wear in total knee replacement. Orthopedics 2002 Feb; 25 (2 Suppl.): S235-42
- Seedhom BB, Wallbridge NC. Walking activities and wear of prostheses. Ann Rheum Dis 1985 Dec; 44 (12): 838-43
- Schmalzried TP, Szuszczewicz ES, Northfield MR, et al. Quantitative assessment of walking activity after total hip or knee replacement. J Bone Joint Surg Am 1998 Jan; 80 (1): 54-9
- Schmalzried TP, Shepherd EF, Dorey FJ, et al. The John Charnley Award: wear is a function of use, not time. Clin Orthop 2000 Dec; (381): 36-46
- Kuster MS, Wood GA, Stachowiak GW, et al. Joint load considerations in total knee replacement. J Bone Joint Surg Br 1997 Jan; 79 (1): 109-13
- 44. Hilding MB, Lanshammar H, Ryd L. Knee joint loading and tibial component loosening: RSA and gait analysis in 45 osteoarthritic patients before and after TKA. J Bone Joint Surg Br 1996 Jan; 78 (1): 66-73
- Bergmann G, Rohlmann A, Graichen F. *In vivo* measurement of hip joint stress. 1: physical therapy [in German]. Z Orthop Ihre Grenzgeb 1989 Nov-Dec; 127 (6): 672-9
- Bergmann G, Graichen F, Rohlmann A. Hip joint loading during walking and running, measured in two patients. J Biomech 1993 Aug; 26 (8): 969-90
- Stansfield BW, Nicol AC. A comparison of the forces developed at the hip joints of normal and total hip replacement subjects. Proceedings of XVIIIth Congress of the International Society of Biomechanics; 2001 Jul 8-13; Zürich, 298
- Nigg BM, van den Bogert AJ, Read L, et al. Load on the locomotor system during skiing. In: Müller E, Schwameder H, Kornexl E, et al., editors. Science and skiing. London: E&FN Spon, 1997: 27-35
- Fitzsimmons AM, Nicol AC, Lane J, et al. Hip joint loading during activities of daily living. Proceedings of XVth Congress of the International Society of Biomechanics; 1995 Jul 2-6, Jyväskylä
- Morrison JB. The mechanics of the knee joint in relation to normal walking. J Biomech 1970 Jan; 3 (1): 51-61
- Paul JP. Force actions transmitted by joints in the human body.
  Proc R Soc Lond B Biol Sci 1976 Jan 20; 192 (1107): 163-72
- Harrington IJ. A bioengineering analysis of force actions at the knee in normal and pathological gait. Biomed Eng 1976 May; 11 (5): 167-72
- Ericson MO, Nisell R. Tibiofemoral joint forces during ergometer cycling. Am J Sports Med 1986 Jul-Aug; 14 (4): 285-90
- Morrison JB. Function of the knee joint in various activities.
  Biomed Eng 1969 Dec; 4 (12): 573-80
- Wyss UP, Costigan PA, Olney SJ, et al. Bone-on-bone forces at the knee joint during walking and stair climbing. Proceedings

- of XIVth Congress of the International Society of Biomechanics; 1993 Jul 4-8; Paris, 3
- Andriacchi TP, Andersson GB, Fermier RW, et al. A study of lower-limb mechanics during stair-climbing. J Bone Joint Surg Am 1980 Jul; 62 (5): 749-57
- Dahlkvist NJ, Mayo P, Seedhom BB. Forces during squatting and rising from a deep squat. Eng Med 1982 Apr; 11 (2): 69-76
- Nisell R. Mechanics of the knee: a study of joint and muscle load with clinical applications. Acta Orthop Scand Suppl 1985; 216: 1-42
- Winter DA. Moments of force and mechanical power in jogging. J Biomech 1983; 16 (1): 91-7
- Scott SH, Winter DA. Internal forces of chronic running injury sites. Med Sci Sports Exerc 1990 Jun; 22 (3): 357-69
- Brunner F. Knee joint forces during bowling on asphalt alleys.
  Proceedings of XIVth Congress of the International Society of Biomechanics; 1993 Jul 4-8; Paris, 53
- Haid C, Müller E, Raschner C. Forces in the knee joint during the steering phase in alpine skiing. Proceedings of XIVth Congress of the International Society of Biomechanics; 1993 Jul 4-8; Paris, 530-1
- Porcari J, McCarron R, Kline G. Is fast walking an adequate aerobic training stimulus in 30-69 year old adults? Phys Sport Med 1987; 15: 119-29
- Duncan JJ, Gordon NF, Scott CB. Women walking for health and fitness: how much is enough? JAMA 1991 Dec 18; 266 (23): 3295-9
- Ericson M. On the biomechanics of cycling: a study of joint and muscle load during exercise on the bicycle ergometer. Scand J Rehabil Med Suppl 1986; 16: 1-43
- Ericson MO, Bratt A, Nisell R, et al. Load moments about the hip and knee joints during ergometer cycling. Scand J Rehabil Med 1986; 18 (4): 165-72
- Buczek FL, Cavanagh PR. Stance phase knee and ankle kinematics and kinetics during level and downhill running. Med Sci Sports Exerc 1990 Oct; 22 (5): 669-77
- Schwameder H, Roithner R, Muller E, et al. Knee joint forces during downhill walking with hiking poles. J Sports Sci 1999 Dec; 17 (12): 969-78
- Collins JJ. Antagonistic-synergistic muscle action at the knee during competitive weightlifting. Med Biol Eng Comput 1994 Mar; 32 (2): 168-74
- Economic benefits of the health-enhancing effects of physical activity: first estimates for Switzerland [position statement].
   Sportmedizin Sportraumatol 2001 Nov; 49 (3): 131-3
- de Loes M. Epidemiology of sports injuries in the Swiss organization 'Youth and Sports' 1987-1989: injuries, exposure and risks of main diagnoses. Int J Sports Med 1995 Feb; 16 (2): 134-8
- Kuster MS, Horz S, Spalinger E, et al. The effects of conformity and load in total knee replacement. Clin Orthop 2000 Jun; (375): 302-12

Correspondence and offprints: *Markus S. Kuster*, Klinik für Orthopädische Chirurgie, Kantonsspital, CH 9007 St. Gallen, Switzerland.

E-mail: mskuster@bluewin.ch